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GROSS, J.

The plaintiff/appellant, Renaissance Health Publishing, LLC, appeals
an order granting the defendants’ motions to dismiss for lack of personal
jurisdiction. We reverse, finding that the defendants had sufficient
minimum contacts with Florida where their interactive website libeled
the product of a Florida corporation and the defendants sold competing
products in Florida through the website.

In the circuit court, Renaissance, a Florida corporation, sued
Resveratrol Partners, LLC and Bill Sardi for trade libel and two related
statutory violations, all arising from statements made on the defendants’
website disparaging Renaissance’s products. The complaint alleged that
Renaissance marketed Resveratrol, a red wine extract; the defendants
sold publications about food supplements, both in a traditional paper
format and as e-books; and the defendants falsely and intentionally
disparaged the quality of Resveratrol on their internet website,
www.longevinex.com.

As to jurisdiction, the complaint alleged that (1) Resveratrol Partners
was a Nevada limited liability company with its principal place of
business in California; (2) Bill Sardi was president of Resveratrol
Partners and the author of one of the offending stories; (3) the
defendants did business in Florida; (4) “a substantial part of the events
giving rise to this litigation” occurred in Florida, and (5) the defendants
were “transacting business” in Florida by

(a) providing Internet users in Florida access to its web sites;



(b) contracting with, or attempting to contract with, Florida
residents for the sale of goods and services, including the
sale of the articles described herein on its Internet web sites;
(c) selling or attempting to sell goods or services to residents
of the State of Florida; (d) maintaining an office in the State
of Florida; and/or (e) committing tortious acts in the State of
Florida.

Defendants moved to dismiss the complaint for lack of personal
jurisdiction, because they did not fall within the ambit of the long-arm
statute, section 48.193, Florida Statutes (2007), and because they had so
little contact with Florida that subjecting them to the jurisdiction of a
Florida court would offend constitutional due process considerations.

After limited discovery concerning jurisdiction, certain facts
crystallized. Neither Sardi nor Resveratrol Partners (1) maintained an
office in Florida; (2) employed a business agent in Florida; (3) owned any
property in Florida; (4) maintained bank accounts in Florida, or (5)
solicited Florida business through direct mail, magazine or periodical
delivered to Florida, or any Florida based broadcast or cable advertising.
Defendants sold Longevinex to consumers primarily via the internet at
the Longevinex website. Sales of Longevinex to Florida residents through
the website represented 2.4% of Resveratrol Partners’ total gross
domestic sales. In the three-year period prior to the filing of this lawsuit,
Sardi sold 86 books and e-books to Florida residents, which realized
$2,101.83 in sales.

The trial court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss. See Fla. R.
Civ. P. 1.140(b)(2). Renaissance appealed. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.130(a)(3)

(C)(d).

A trial court’s ruling on a motion to dismiss for lack of personal
jurisdiction is reviewed de novo. See Carib-USA Ship Lines Bahamas Ltd.
v. Dorsett, 935 So. 2d 1272, 1275 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006).

To evaluate personal jurisdiction under the long-arm statute, Florida
courts must engage in the two-part analysis set forth in Venetian Salami
Co. v. Parthenais, 554 So. 2d 499, 502 (Fla. 1989).

First, there must be sufficient facts to bring the action within the
ambit of the long-arm statute; if the statute applies, the next inquiry is
whether there are sufficient “minimum contacts” to satisfy due process
requirements. “Both parts must be satisfied for a court to exercise
personal jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant.” Am. Fin. Trading



Corp. v. Bauer, 828 So. 2d 1071, 1074 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

Looking first at the long-arm statute, we hold that the defendants are
subject to Florida’s jurisdiction under section 48.193(1)(b), which allows
a Florida court to assert jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant who
“personally or through an agent . . . commit[ed] a tortious act within this
state.”

In Wendt v. Horowitz, 822 So. 2d 1252, 1253 (Fla. 2002), the supreme
court held that “making telephonic, electronic, or written
communications into this State” can amount to the commission of a
“tortious act within this state” under section 48.193(b), “provided that
the tort alleged arises from such communications.” A “defendant’s
physical presence” in Florida is not required to commit a tortious act in
Florida under the long-arm statute. Id. at 1260. Wendt approved cases
from this court where defamation occurred in telephone conversations
with persons in Florida, Acquadro v. Bergeron, 778 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 4th
DCA 2001), and in a letter mailed from Connecticut and received in
Florida, Silver v. Levinson, 648 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); see also
Achievers Unlimited, Inc. v. Nutri Herb, Inc., 710 So. 2d 716, 718 (Fla. 4th
DCA 1998) (observing that “lm]aking a defamatory statement to a listener
in Florida, even via telephone, constitutes the commission of a tort in
Florida within the meaning of Florida’s long-arm statute.”).

Relying on Wendt, we held that defamatory comments posted in an
internet chat room “that were targeted to Florida residents, or people
likely to seek medical care” in Florida were electronic communications
that fell within section 48.193(1)(b). Becker v. Hooshmand, 841 So. 2d
561, 563 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). The defendants’ interactive web site
which sells product to Florida residents is akin to the chat room in
Becker. Applying Wendt and Becker, we conclude that the initial burden
under Venetian Salami was satisfied.

The second Venetian Salami question is whether the defendants had
sufficient minimum contacts with Florida so that the maintenance of a
suit here does not offend “traditional notions of fair play and substantial
justice.” Execu-Tech Bus. Sys., Inc. v. New Ojt Paper Co., 752 So. 2d 582,
584 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Int’l Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316
(1945) (quoting Milliken v. Meyer, 311 U.S. 457, 463 (1940))). “The
requirement is satisfied if the defendant purposefully directs activities at
Florida and litigation arises out of those activities, or the defendant
purposefully avails himself of the privilege of conducting activities within
the forum state.” Achievers Unlimited, 710 So. 2d at 719; Silver, 648 So.
2d at 243-44.



In Silver, we held that a defendant who mailed a defamatory letter
from Connecticut to six recipients in Florida had sufficient minimum
contacts with Florida to be subject to suit here. Posting information on
the Internet is different—“when a person places information on the
Internet, he can communicate with persons in virtually every
jurisdiction.” ALS Scan, Inc. v. Digital Serv. Consultants, Inc., 293 F.3d
707, 712 (4th Cir. 2002). An interactive website which allows a
defendant to enter into contracts to sell products to Florida residents,
and which “involve[s] the knowing and repeated transmission of
computer files over the internet,” may support a finding of personal
jurisdiction. Zippo Mfg. Co. v. Zippo Dot Com, Inc., 952 F. Supp. 1119,
1124 (W.D. Pa. 1997); see Westwind Limousine, Inc. v. Shorter, 932 So.
2d 571, 575 n.7 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) (recognizing the distinction between
a passive website and an active website designed to market products in
Florida).

The purpose of the alleged business defamation in this case was to
convince consumers to purchase the defendants’ products and not the
plaintiff’s. Sales to Florida residents through the interactive website
totaled 2.4% of Resveratrol’s total gross domestic sales; Sardi sold books
and e-books to Florida residents realizing $2,101.83 in sales. Such
commercial activity within Florida is sufficient to subject the defendants
to jurisdiction here—where a defendant disparages a competitor’s
products to enhance its own commercial sales in a state where the
competitor has its corporate headquarters, the defendant could
“reasonably anticipate being haled into court there.” See Calder v. Jones,
465 U.S. 783, 790 (1984) (quoting World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v.
Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297)); see Hartoy, Inc. v. Thompson, 2003 WL
21468079 (S.D. Fla. 2003) (involving five orders from defendant’s website
totaling $325); Nida Corp. v. Nida, 118 F. Supp. 2d 1223, 1231-32 (M.D.
Fla. 2000) (involving approximately $27,417 in revenue from sales in
Florida). This case is distinguishable from internet defamation cases
involving passive websites not designed to market products in the
purported forum state. See Revell v. Lidov, 317 F.3d 467 (5th Cir. 2002);
Hy Cite Corp. v. Badbusinessbureau.com, L.L.C., 297 F. Supp. 2d 1154
(W.D. Wisc. 2004).

STONE and WARNER, JJ., concur.

* * *

Appeal from the Circuit Court for the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm
Beach County; John J. Hoy, Judge; L.T. Case No. 2006CA1459AG.
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OPINION
DUNCAN, Circuit Judge:

Appellant DIRECTV, Inc. ("DIRECTV"), a satellite television ser-
vice provider, commenced this action in the Western District of North
Carolina against appellee John Rawlins. DIRECTV alleged that
Rawlins utilized illegal devices to access DIRECTYV television pro-
gramming beyond the level of his paid subscription in violation of, as
relevant here, the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984 (the
"Cable Act"), 47 U.S.C. § 605(a), and the Electronic Communications
Privacy Act of 1986 (the "Wiretap Act"), 18 U.S.C. § 2511. After
Rawlins failed to respond, the district court entered default judgment
against him under both statutes. The court permanently enjoined
Rawlins from continuing to violate the laws and awarded DIRECTV
attorney’s fees and costs. However, the court declined to award the
statutory damages DIRECTYV requested under either of the relevant
statutory provisions.

On appeal, DIRECTV challenges only the district court’s denial of
statutory damages under the Wiretap Act. Finding that the district
court abused its discretion, we vacate the judgment and remand for
further proceedings consistent with this opinion.

This litigation arises in the wake of recent dramatic technological
changes in the home entertainment industry, a brief description of
which provides the context for our decision here. DIRECTV provides
satellite television programming to its customers through subscription
services and pay-per-view options. Programming content is distrib-
uted to customers via encrypted (i.e., scrambled) signals, which are
sent to satellite dishes, decrypted by receivers, and then delivered to
customers’ televisions. DIRECTV manages the amount and type of
content provided to customers by the use of "access cards,” small
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credit card-sized devices containing chips that instruct receivers to
decrypt only those signals covered by individual customers’ subscrip-
tion packages. These access cards also monitor customers’ pay-per-
view purchases.

This method of home television viewing is a fairly recent innova-
tion. See H.R. Rep. No. 100-887(ll), at 10 (1988), reprinted in 1988
U.S.C.C.A.N. 5577, 5639 (discussing history of satellite-relayed cable
programming). In 1975, Home Box Office Inc. ("HBO") began deliv-
ering movies to cable television operators via satellite. These cable
operators would pay HBO, and later other satellite carriers, per-
subscriber fees for access to their signals, and then deliver the signals
to subscribers over cable wire. Problems arose after technological
advances enabled owners of backyard satellite dishes to receive satel-
lite carriers’ signals directly, without paying the carriers or the cable
operators. The legality of this practice was immediately challenged.
Though not explicitly prohibited by statute, the practice was consid-
ered illegal by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC") and
held by several courts to be a prohibited use of satellite signal. How-
ever, satellite carriers were not content to rely on the legal system to
prevent this type of access to their signal. Thus, they began using
encryption technology and providing decryption capacity only to pay-
ing customers, effectively cutting off access to others. Id.

In 1984, the Cable Act was enacted, clarifying the law respecting
use of this technology. It legalized the sale and use of backyard
dishes, authorized owners of these dishes to receive unencrypted sig-
nals under certain circumstances, and increased penalties for unautho-
rized signal reception, including the reception of encrypted signals.
Two years later, Congress passed the Wiretap Act to enhance Federal
privacy protection in the rapidly evolving telecommunications indus-
try. See 132 Cong. Rec. S14441-04 (daily ed. Oct. 1, 1986) (statement
of Sen. Leahy) (describing the need for updates to the then-existing
law in light of technological advances and the cumbersome structure
of the telecommunications industry). In the years following the pas-
sage of these Acts, satellite television became a multi-billion dollar
business. As the industry grew, so too did efforts to gain unauthorized
access to its programming.

DIRECTYV entered the market in 1994, providing, as an alternative
to cable television, all-digital multi-channel television programming
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delivered directly to home viewers via satellite. Before long, techno-
logically sophisticated scofflaws found methods for reprogramming
or replacing DIRECTYV access cards with illicit decoder technology
that allowed home viewers, or "end-users,” to gain access to
DIRECTV programming without payment. In response, DIRECTV
developed electronic counter-measures, including, for example, trans-
mitting occasional bursts of data that had the effect of disabling unau-
thorized access cards without harming legitimate DIRECTV access
cards. In short order, however, a market emerged around the design
and sale of illegal "pirate access devices," which restore the ability of
disabled access cards to unscramble DIRECTV’s encrypted signals or
otherwise allow their users to gain access to DIRECTV’s signal with-
out payment.

In addition to availing itself of technological remedies, DIRECTV
has increasingly turned to the legal system. Utilizing civil enforce-
ment mechanisms contained in the Cable Act and the Wiretap Act,
DIRECTV has aimed to curb piracy by filing complaints against
alleged violators, seeking injunctive relief, damages, attorney’s fees
and costs. To date, DIRECTV has initiated anti-fraud and anti-piracy
enforcement actions against more than 25,000 defendants. See
DIRECTYV, Inc. v. Hoa Huynh, 503 F.3d 847, 850 (9th Cir. 2007) (cit-
ing website maintained by DIRECTYV chronicling its anti-piracy liti-
gation efforts). The case before us is one such action.

On December 1, 2001, and January 28, 2002, with the assistance
of the United States Marshals Service, DIRECTV executed writs of
seizure on "The Computer Shanty” and "EQ Stuff,” two alleged sell-
ers of pirate access devices. Among the items confiscated were busi-
ness records that implicated Rawlins, among others. According to the
seized records, Rawlins purchased the following illegal devices from
The Computer Shanty: one "Netsignia 210 Programmer,” one
"ULPRO X Super Unlooper,” and one "ULTCOMBO," which con-
sists of a "Shanty Unlooper,” a "Shanty PS2 Blue Emulator,” a
"Shanty Programmer," and a "Shanty Bootloader."* From EQ Stuff,

A "Programmer" is a device used to clone or program an access card
to receive unauthorized programming. An "Unlooper" is used to restore





